IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHNNY RAY DAVIS

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO.: 2007-KA-00504-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

APPELLANT RESPECTFULLY REQUESTS ORAL ARGUMENT

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ERIC TIEBAUER, MSB# 4363 HIGHWAY 145 NORTH WAYNESBORO, MS 39367 601-735-5222- PHONE 601-735-5008 – FAX

KATIE DICKERSON ATTORNEY AT LAW, MSB# 705 CHICKASAWHAY ST. WAYNESBORO, MS 39367 PHONE: 601-735-2773

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. The United States Constitution and the Mississippi Constitution guarantee the right to a fair trial. Johnny Ray Davis, Appellant, was denied these constitutional rights by the prosecuting attorney, James Ronald Parrish, by way of several statements made during the State's closing arguments. Johnny Ray Davis opted to exercise his Constitutional right not to testify in his own trial, the prosecuting attorney used this choice to portray Mr. Davis in a negative light. The issue presented here is, was Johnny Ray Davis' Constitutional right to a fair trial violated by the prosecuting attorney by way of the prosecuting attorney's comments in his closing arguments of Mr. Davis's choice not to testify?
- II. The second issue to be addressed is whether Johnny Ray Davis was denied his Constitutional right to a fair trial when the prosecuting attorney deviated form his role as administer of justice, used improper remarks in his closing argument and entered evidence of Mr. Davis's character which was not in evidence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in Court Below

The Appellant, Mr. Davis was convicted of fondling in violation of § 97 -5 – 23(1) of the Mississippi Code on February 16, 2007 in the Circuit Court of Jones County. *State v. Davis*, NO. 2005-67-KR2. On the 26th of March, 2007 Mr. Davis was sentenced to 15 years in the state penitentiary with five years suspended. (R.E. 1.) An appeal bond was denied on March 30th 2007. (R.E. 2). This case now comes to the Mississippi Court of Appeals.

B. Statement of Facts

This case involves an allegation of fondling, of Jamie Tucker, by Mr. Davis. (R.E. 3.) Mr. Davis is the step-grandfather of Jamie Tucker and the stepfather of Tammy Tucker, the mother of Jamie. (R.E. 3.) Mr. Davis has been in this patriarchy role for over twenty years and helped raised not only Tammy, but also all of his grandchildren. (R.E. 4.) Mr. Davis even took custody of Amber Tucker, Tammy's oldest daughter, when Tammy was having drug problems. (R.E. 5.) This act caused fighting among Mr. Davis and the accuser's mother. (R.E. 5.)

The State presented Officer Brad Grunig, the investigator with the Jones County Sheriff's Department, as a witness. (R.E. 6,7.) Officer Grunig taped an interview he conducted with Mr. Davis, without his attorney present. (R.E. 8.) The tapes of the interview last approximately three hours. (R.E. 9.) These tapes were entered into evidence and a portion was played for the jury. (R.E. 10,11.) The State produced Tammy Tucker as a witness, the mother of the alleged victim. (R.E. 12.) Jamie Tucker, the alleged victim, was

also called as a witness for the State. (R.E. 13.) The State then called two expert witnesses, one being Dr. Patricia Tibbs, a pediatrician. (R.E. 14) This witness testified that she believed that the victim had been abused, even though there were no physical signs of abuse. (R.E. 15,16.) Dr. Tibbs also testified that 40 percent of adults and children generally do not tell the truth in sexual abuse cases. (R.E. 17,18.) The other expert witness for the State was Sharon McMahan. (R.E. 19.) McMahan was a counselor at the Child Advocacy Program when she conducted an interview with the alleged victim; conversely McMahan now works for The Salvation Army. (R.E. 19.) McMahan taped this interview, however the audio on the video was of poor quality. (R.E. 20,21.) McMahan testified that she believes that the victim was abused as well, even lacking the physical signs of abuse. (R.E. 22.) Johnny Ray Davis did not testify in his own defense.

The prosecuting attorney, James Ronald Parrish, began the State's closing argument with a statement that the Defense's closing argument was specious. (R.E. 23,24.) The Defense objected to the statement, and the court sustained the objection. (R.E. 24.) However, the court did not address this remark or instruct jury on this matter. (R.E. 24.)

Mr. Parrish then proceeded to attack the Defendant's choice not to testify by stating that the defense was going to let them (the jury) hear from the Defendant through the videotape, but all that the tape was, was three hours of "bull" and the Defendant talked about everything but the alleged victim. (R.E. 24,25.) The prosecutor, Mr. Parrish, then introduced evidence of Johnny Ray Davis' character and social behavior that was not in the record, by calling Johnny Ray Davis a "pervert", a very harsh and seditious word that was meant to inflame the jury. (R.E. 25.) The prosecuting attorney continued to deviate from his role as an administrator of justice by offering his influential "opinion" that Mr. Davis was guilty.

(R.E. 26.) Mr. Parrish unrelenting pursued this approach of arousing the jury's emotions and adding credit to his own opinion by stating that "I would cut off my arm before I would knowingly prosecute an innocent man." (R.E. 27.)

The prosecutor maintained his transgressions on Mr. Davis by implying a confession of guilt because of lack of objection to the expert witnesses. (R.E. 28) Mr. Parrish finished his closing argument with a statement that crossed the line, a "send a message" argument, when he told the jury that he has done all he could do, it was up to the jury now to punish the guilty, if not they would be punishing the victim. (R.E. 28, 29.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Johnny Ray Davis was unconstitutionally denied his fundamental right to a fair trial by the prosecuting attorney's improper remarks during the state's closing argument. The prosecutor's closing argument contained numerous prejudicial statements against Johnny Ray Davis that overwhelming swayed the jury into a guilty verdict when the evidence before them was weak. The prosecutor, Mr. Parrish, departed from his role as a representative of a sovereignty which has a commitment to govern impartially, and became a representative of a party involved with a controversy, in opposition to the holding of the United States Supreme Court.

The prosecutor, Mr. Parrish, also denied Johnny Ray Davis his 5th Amendment constitutional right. Johnny Ray Davis choose to exercise this right, Mr. Parrish denied him this right by commenting on Johnny Ray Davis's lack of testimony. It is well established that this type of commenting denies the Defendant a fair trail and denies him of his constitutional right not to testify.

Mr. Parrish deprived Johnny Ray Davis of a fair trail when he introduced evidence of Johnny Ray Davis's character and social behavior to the jury, when this evidence was not admitted to the record. Mr. Parrish labeled and classified Johnny Ray Davis with a word that was intended to inflame the passions of the jury, this word was "pervert". This clearly goes against case law dealing with the introduction of evidence of character on in evidence.

Johnny Ray Davis was deprived of a fair trail when Mr. Parrish, prosecuting attorney, argued that there was an implied confession because of the Defendant's lack of testimony and lack of objection to the State's expert witness, which was reinforced by the prosecutor's comments about the defenses' lack of expert witness.

It is clear that Johnny Ray Davis was denied a fair trail when these improper comments are view in context of the entire closing argument by the State. The State's closing argument was used to sway the jury to a guilty verdict by unacceptable means. These means were name calling and by violating legal professional codes and precedence. Therefore, the decision of the trial court should be reversed or at least remanded.

ARGUMENT

II. THE FIFTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES
CONSTITUTION, AS WELL AS ARTICLE 3, SECTION 26 OF THE
MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION GIVES THE DEFENDANT THE
RIGHT NOT TO BE COMPELLED TO TESTIFY AGAINST HIMSELF.
WHEN THE PROSECUTOR COMMENTED ON JOHNNY RAY
DAVIS NOT TESTIFING AGAINST HIMSELF IT WAS A VIOLATION
OF THESE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has set the standard of review by stating that the trial court has discretion when reviewing the propriety of statements made during the closing arguments. Roundtree v. State, 568 So.2d 1173, 1178 (Miss. 1990). However, the Mississippi Supreme Court set the test of misconduct in closing arguments with Sheppard v. State, 777 So.2d 695 (Miss. 2000). "The standard of review that appellate courts must apply to lawyer misconduct during opening statements or closing arguments is whether the natural and probable effect of the improper argument is to create unjust prejudice against the accused so as to result in a decision influenced by the prejudice so created." Sheppard v. State, 777 So.2d 659, 661 (Miss. 2000). The misconduct in the case before the court runs throughout the closing argument. The prosecuting attorney, Mr. Parrish, opened with improper comments, continued with improper comments and closed with an improper comment. The amount of misconduct by the prosecuting attorney can only be seen as creating prejudice that can not be over come by the defense or a correction from the judge. The first issue to be addressed is when Mr. Parrish, the prosecuting attorney, commented on the Defendant, Johnny Ray Davis, exercising his constitutional right not to testify against himself.

"It is a violation of 'an elementary and long established principle of law' for a prosecutor to comment on a defendant's failure to take the stand at trial." *Livingston v. State*, 525 So.2d 1300, 1306 (Miss. 19988) (quoting *Brown v. State*, 340 So.2d 718). Mr. Parrish,

the prosecuting attorney, made a reference to a videotape that was introduced as evidence. This videotape was to be a stand in for the Defendant, in a way countering the negative effect of the Defendant not testifying. However, Mr. Parrish made the statement: "we are here about one case, this little nine year old girl. And he (defense attorney, Eric Tiebauer) says, oh, I let you hear from Johnny Ray Davis through the videotape... you can listen to all that...bull again if you want... he's (the Defendant) talking about everything in the world... except about this little girl." (R.E. 24, 25.) This is a direct comment on the Defendant not testifying as well as an implication that the information provided in the videotape was fallacious. However, even if it is viewed as an implication or indirect comment this would still be improper and a violation of the Defendant's Constitutional rights. In *Wilson v. State*, a burglary and grand larceny conviction was reversed and remanded because of improper comments by the district attorney. "District attorneys must not directly, or by innuendo and insinuation, comment on a defendant's not testifying." *Wilson v. State*, 433 So.2d 1142, 1146 (Miss. 1983).

"A prosecutor may violate a defendant's right not to be compelled to testify against himself not only by making a direct statement but also by a comment that a jury may reasonably construe to be a comment on the defendant's failure to testify. *Jimpson v. State*, 532 So.2d 985, 991 (Miss. 1978). The jury in the case at hand could surely construe the statement: "you can listen to all that...bull again if you want... he's (the Defendant) talking about everything in the world... except about this little girl" as a comment on the Defendant not testifying. (R.E. 25.) However, unlike in *Jimpson*, the comment is not about the Defendant's defense, or his failure to put on a successful defense. *Jimpson*, 532 So.2d at 991. Throughout the State's closing arguments the prosecuting attorney made reference to the

defense's lack of expert witnesses. (R.E. 30.) That is not an issue with the case at bar. Nevertheless, what is at issue is when the prosecuting attorney made the remark "we are here about one case...this little nine year old girl...[and] he talked about everything in the world... except about this little girl". This pointed out to the jury that the Defendant did not testify and what evidence that was introduced by the videotape was to keep the Defendant from testifying and to hide the Defendant from the jury. (R.E. 25) This comment is clearly improper and is prohibited as it directly violates the Defendant's Constitutional rights.

The comment was not objected to at the time. However, the Defendant had objected to earlier comments by the prosecuting attorney and did not want a continuing string of objects in front of the jury. A constant raising of objections by the defense would counter their set trial strategy and could have an adverse affect on the view of the jury towards the Defendant. Nevertheless, "[w]ith such a fundamental right, even the failure to timely object to the prosecution's comment at trial will not waive the right on appeal." Whigham v. State, 611 So.2d 988, 995 (Miss. 1992). Another issue that faces the Defendant is the "invited response" review. However, the United States Supreme court seeks to minimize "invited response" and does not feel that it is an appropriate assessment. U.S. v. Young, 470 U.S. 1 (1985). The invited response review evolved in a way not contemplated and is poor policy considering the judge can interrupt the defense and stop the argument before it begins, thus dealing with an improper argument before it encourages the prosecutor to make a responsive improper argument. Id at 13. Nevertheless, in the case before the court the Defendant did not make an improper argument, or any statement that would invite a closing argument that created such prejudice as the one given by the prosecutor.

II. JOHNNY RAY DAVIS WAS DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL WHEN THE PROSECUTING ATTORNEY ENTERED EVIDENCE OF MR. DAVIS'S CHARACTER AND MADE STATEMENTS THAT WAS INTENDED TO INFLAME AND RAISE THE PASSIONS OF THE JURY AGAINST MR. DAVIS.

"While the prosecuting attorney may characterize accused or his conduct by terms of opprobrium appropriate to the facts in evidence, it is improper for him to indulge in intemperate characterization, personal abuse, or vilification of accused, tending solely to arouse or to inflame the passion and prejudice of the jury against him, even where such comments are to some extent supported by the evidence." *Craft v. State*, 84 So.2d 531, 438 (Miss. 1956). The prosecuting attorney, Mr. Parrish, did use intemperate characterization and vilification to arouse the passion of the jury and create a prejudice that was not, nor could be overcome during the trial. During the closing arguments the prosecuting attorney explicitly called the Defendant a "pervert." (R.E. 25.) The word "pervert" is used in today's society to describe the worst of sexual activity. Merriam-Webster dictionary defines "Pervert" as "one given to some form of sexual perversion." *Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary*. 2007. http://www.merriam-webster.com (5 July 2007). The dictionary then continues to define "perversion" as "an aberrant sexual practice or interest especially when habitual." *Id.*

The use of this word characterized the Defendant as a deviant; the word itself was used to inflame the jury. The prosecuting attorney used this word to create a prejudice against the Defendant. There can be little doubt that any adult in this country imagines anything other that the vilest person when that person is labeled a pervert.

In using this word to characterize the Defendant the prosecutor offered his personal opinion of the Defendant and did so in a way that was meant to inflame the passions of the

jury and appeal to their prejudices. "The prosecutor should not make arguments calculated to appeal to the prejudices of the jury." ABA Standard for Criminal Justice 3-5.8(c) (1993). This characterization goes against case law and the ABA Standards for Criminal Justice.

The ABA Standards for Criminal Justice also states "The prosecutor should not express his or her personal belief or opinion as to the truth or falsity of any testimony or evidence or guilt of the defendant." ABA Standards for Criminal Justice 3-5.8(b) (1993). This was reinforced by the United States Supreme Court when it stated "Prosecutors sometimes breach their duty to refrain from overzealous conduct by commenting on the defendant's guilt and offering unsolicited personal views on the evidence." *United States v. Young*, 470 U.S. 1, 27 (1985).

Mr. Parrish, the prosecutor in the case at bar, breached his duty here as well, when he made the statement "Mr. Davis (the Defendant), he's guilty. I'm telling you. That's my opinion." (R.E. 26.) The prosecutor clearly disregarded his duty to the Defendant and justice system by clearly violating the Defendants right to a fair trial by not only offering his opinion that the Defendant was guilty to the jury, but claiming that "I (the prosecutor) would cut off my arm before I would knowingly prosecute an innocent man." (R.E. 27.) These two statements alone, much more so together, presented a view to the jury that created prejudice in the jury. The power of these words coming from the prosecuting attorney is not lost on the United States Supreme Court, when the court was addressing improper methods and the prosecution's obligation to govern impartially the court stated:

It is fair to say that the average jury, in a greater or less degree, has confidence that these obligations, which so plainly rest upon the prosecuting attorney, will be faithfully observed. Consequently, improper suggestions, insinuations and, especially, assertions of personal knowledge

are apt to carry much weight against the accused when they should properly carry none.

Berger, 295 U.S. at 88.

The weight of these statements surely produced prejudice in the jury. The jury looks to the prosecution with a favorable eye, the jury looks to the prosecution to take the high ground and uphold the law. When the prosecuting attorney falls below these standards set forth by the courts and the legal profession, the jury does not see the prosecuting attorney as being in the wrong or violating the Defendant's rights, they see a guilty defendant no matter how lacking the evidence is. The United States Supreme Court supports this position in *United States v. Young* when it said "[i]t has been held that a prosecutor may not use his personal beliefs and the prestige attendant to his office to bolster his argument or the witnesses or evidence which he deems most damaging to a defendant." *Young*, 470 U.S., at 5.

The prosecution unrelenting broke from the legal profession's guideline when he misstated evidence to the jury. "The prosecutor should not intentionally misstate the evidence or mislead the jury as to the inferences it may draw." ABA Standard of Criminal Justice 3 -5.8(a) (1993). Three times the prosecuting attorney stated that the defense agreed with the State's expert witnesses. "Mr. Tiebauer (defense attorney) says, I agree with the experts. I got no problem with them." (R.E. 26.) "He (defense attorney) agrees with the experts but don't believe anybody." (R.E. 30.) "He (defense attorney) says they experts. He don't quarrel with what they say. They said the girl told the truth to you, that she was consistent... If he don't quarrel with them his client is guilty because they believe it. They told you they do." (R.E. 28.) Mr. Parrish, the prosecuting attorney, repeatedly told the jury that the Defendant's attorney agreed with the State's expert witness and then told them

because of this agreement; it was an admission of guilt. However, the defense only agreed to accept them as experts in the interest to save the court's time, not with their testimony. (R.E. 14, 31, 32.) The defense questioned both experts on the validity of their findings and the evidence that they gathered. (R.E. 33, 17, 22, 34-37, 20, 38, 39.) The Defendant's counsel questioned the experts in regards to their finding and their interviews with the victim, in doing so the defense tried to establish the fact that the victim's statement was uncorroborated and contradicted. (R.E. 40.) One key point the defense counsel was trying to make was that the State's expert (Doctor Tibbs) testified that 40% of children lie in these cases. (R.E. 17, 18.) The prosecuting attorney, Mr. Parrish, turned this into a personal attack on the defense counsel by saying "[h]e (defense counsel Tiebauer) agrees with the experts but don't believe anybody." (R.E. 30.) Nevertheless, the prosecutor mislead the jury by stating continually that the defense agreed with the State's expert witness and therefore their client was guilty.

Mr. Parrish, the prosecuting attorney, continued the onslaught of misconduct by using the "send a message" argument in his closing argument. While the Defendant's attorney did not object to this argument at trial, it should not be procedurally barred because of the inflammatory nature of the argument and the surrounding misconduct. "[I]f the argument is so 'inflammatory' that the trial judge should have objected on his own motion the point may be considered." *Payton v. State*, 785 So.2d 267, 270 (¶10) (Miss. 1999). The prosecuting attorney ended his closing argument with "When the guilty go free the innocent are punished. She's been punished enough. I did all I could. It's up to you now." (R.E. 29.) This closing is very similar to the closing that the prosecutor in *Alexander v. State* gave when he ended with "[t]here is nothing further we can do. It's up to you." *Alexander v. State*, 736 So.2d

1058, 1064 (¶16) (Miss.App. 1999). In *Alexander v. State* this court "condemn[ed] the use of the "send a message" argument by prosecutors[.]" *Id.* This court recognized that prosecutors continuously use this improper argument in their closing. *Id.* The Supreme Court of Mississippi held "we find that use of the "send a message" argument may, depending upon the surrounding circumstances, constitute reversible error on its own." *Payton*, 785 So.2d at (¶14) 271. In the light of the surrounding circumstances of the case at bar, this use of the improper "send a message" argument should constitute a reversible error on its own.

The United States Supreme Court made it clear about the adversary system, "while he (prosecutor) may strike hard blows, he is not at liberty to strike foul ones." *Berger v.*, 295 U.S. at 88. While one of these blows might not be fatal, the combination of these blows is overwhelming to the fairness of the case at bar. The "probable cumulative effect upon the jury which cannot be disregarded as inconsequential," this effect could not be countered at trial and should rise to the level of reversible error. *Id*.

CONCLUSION

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