IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHNNY RAY DAVIS

FILED

APPELLANT

OCT 1 1 2007

VS.

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPPLEME COURT COURT OF APPEALS NO. 2007-KA-0504

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Davis's challenges to the state's closing argument are procedurally barred by his failure to interpose a contemporaneous objection. Solely in the alternative, the state submits these challenges are also devoid of substantive merit.

PROPOSITION:

THE DEFENDANT'S CHALLENGES TO THE STATE'S CLOSING ARGUMENT ARE PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND SUBSTANTIVELY WITHOUT MERIT

Although it is presented under two propositions, Davis's argument on appeal is essentially a challenge to certain arguments made by the assistant district attorney in closing. Specifically, he contends the prosecutor impermissibly commented on his right not to testify (T.278); that he improperly vilified the defendant (T.278); that he expressed his personal opinion of the defendant's guilt (T.279); that he misstated certain evidence (T.279); and that he made an improper "send a message" argument. (T.283)

The initial flaw in Davis's argument is that it is unpreserved for review. The defense failed to interpose a contemporaneous objection to any of these remarks. This failure bars consideration of these issues on appeal. *Rubenstein v. State*, 941 So.2d 735, 779 (Miss.2006); *Moore v. State*, 938 So.2d 1254, 1265 (Miss.2006), citing *Thorson v. State*, 895 So.2d 85, 112 (Miss.2004); *Rushing v. State*, 711 So.2d 450, 455 (Miss.1998).

In *Knight v. State*, 751 So.2d 1144 (Miss. App. 1999), the appellant presented an argument quite similar to Davis's in terms of content and procedural posture. This Court rejected that argument with an analysis set out in pertinent part below:

Jeffery Knight asserts as an eighth assignment of error that prosecutorial comments made during closing argument requires reversal. Knight further elaborates by stating "[p]rosecutors are not given full reins to gain victory and are limited by the zeal than [sic] can use as evidenced by (the) following: that a prosecutor 'while he may strike hard blows, is not at liberty to strike foul ones,' it [is] left to the lower courts to discern what sort of misconduct rises to the level of reversible error." Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55 S. Ct. 629, 79 L.Ed. 1314 (1935)(overruled on other grounds). Knight contends that in the case at bar, he was deprived a fair trial because the prosecutor "injected remarks intended to inflame

and gave his opinion as to guilt." Additionally, Knight asserts that the prosecution misstated evidence during his closing argument.

The problem with the argument presented by Knight is that he failed to contemporaneously object to any of the prosecutor's remarks. We require a contemporaneous objection to the allegedly prejudicial remarks. *May v. State*, 569 So.2d 1188, 1190 (Miss.1990); *Dunaway v. State*, 551 So.2d 162, 164 (Miss.1989); *Marks v. State*, 532 So.2d 976, 984 (Miss.1988).

It is now well settled that when anything transpires during the trial that would tend to prejudice the rights of defendant, he cannot wait and take his chances with the jury on a favorable verdict and then obtain a reversal of the cause in this Court because of such error, but he must ask the trial court for a mistrial upon the happening of such occurrence when the same is of such nature as would entitle him to a mistrial.

Box v. State, 610 So.2d 1148, 1154 (Miss.1992) (quoting *Blackwell v. State*, 44 So.2d 409, 410 (Miss.1950)).

[I]t is the duty of a trial counsel, if he deems opposing counsel overstepping the wide range of authorized argument, to promptly make objections and insist upon a ruling by the trial court. The trial judge first determines if the objection should be sustained or overruled. If the argument is improper, and the objection is sustained, it is the further duty of trial counsel to move for a mistrial. The circuit judge is in the best position to weigh the consequences of the objectionable argument, and unless serious and irreparable damage has been done, admonish the jury then and there to disregard the improper comment.

Johnson v. State, 477 So.2d 196, 209-10 (Miss. 1985).

In this case, the lower court instructed the jury that any arguments, statements, or remarks by counsel were not evidence and if any statement were made that had no basis in the evidence, then the jury should disregard the remark. Clearly, any error that occurred was not so extensive or prejudicial as to constitute fundamental error. The Court is mindful that Jeffery Knight made an objection and moved for a mistrial relative to statements made by the prosecutor during closing argument. This motion was brought after the jury had been excused from the courtroom to deliberate on a verdict and this was simply too late. In Herrington v. State, 690 So.2d 1132, 1139 (Miss. 1997), the supreme court acknowledged that a trial judge can only render a determination of prejudice if the party makes a timely objection and motion for a mistrial. The court further proclaimed that "timeliness means the objection and motion must be made contemporaneously with the allegedly improper utterance. This is well-known as the 'contemporaneous objection rule'. Contemporaneousness is critical because it allows the judge to avert a mistrial, if possible, by admonishing the jury to disregard the utterance." ld. This Court determines that Jeffery Knight waived this issue in the court below and forfeited any error on appeal to this Court.

(emphasis added) 751 So.2d at1153-54.

Maintaining that Davis's arguments are procedurally barred, the state alternatively addresses the merits of those arguments. First, Davis submits the following comments improperly referred to his failure to testify:

And he [defense counsel] says, oh, I let you hear from Johnny Ray Davis through the videotape. Well, that's fine. I didn't mind him playing the tape. And you can listen to all that two or

three hours of bull again if you want to ... You know, he's talking about everything in the world... except about this little girl.

(T.278)⁴

The state counters that it strains credulity to suggest that this was a direct, or even inferential, comment on the defendant's exercise of his constitutional right not to testify against himself. Rather, the prosecutor was commenting on the content of a videotape introduced into evidence. "In general, parties may comment upon any facts introduced into evidence, and may draw whatever deductions and inferences that seem proper from the facts." (emphasis added) *Ross v. State*, 954 So.2d 968, 1002 (Miss.2007). By making these deductions and inferences, the assistant district attorney was doing what he was charged with doing, and what he was entitled to do. He did not overstep any boundaries here.

⁴The state reiterates that the challenge to these comments is procedurally barred. *Wright v. State*, 958 So.2d 158, 166 (Miss.2007); *Walters v. State*, 720 So.2d 856, 864 (Miss. App. 1998).

Next, Davis claims the assistant district attorney vilified him by calling him a "pervert." (T.278) Taking issue with this characterization, he submits the following argument and definitions:

The word "pervert" is used in today's society to describe the worst of sexual activity. Merriam-Webster dictionary defines "Pervert" as "one given to some form of sexual perversion." *Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary*. 2007.http://www.merriam-webster-com (5 Jul 2007). The dictionary then continues to define "perversion" as "an aberrant sexual practice or interest especially when habitual." *Id*.

(Brief for Appellant 10)

The state accepts this definition of the word "pervert" and submits the prosecutor's use of this word was supported by the evidence and was, therefore, fair argument. The proof showed that the defendant, an adult male, habitually touched the minor victim, his wife's own granddaughter, on her private parts. Such conduct is abhorred in civilized society. No rational person would assert that such activity is anything other than

⁵An identical argument was held to be procedurally barred in *Earley v. State*, 595 So.2d 430, 433 (Miss.1992). In that case, the defendant was on trial for sexually battering her nine-year-old son. The Supreme Court held that in the absence of a contemporaneous objection, the defense was procedurally barred from challenging prosecutor's reference to the defendant as a "pervert" during closing argument. See also *Piercy v. State*, 850 So.2d 219, 221 (Miss. App. 2003).

⁶He also exposed her to lewd, pornographic computer images depicting young girls performing fellatio on older men.

"aberrant." Accordingly, calling the defendant a "pervert" was not improper. See *Divine*v. State, 947 So.2d 1017, 1022 (Miss. App. 2007) (prosecutor's referring to defendant, accused of sexually penetrating his nephew, as a sexual predator and a child molester were fair argument based on the evidence).

Davis claims additionally that the prosecutor transgressed in expressing his personal opinion of guilt: "He can sit over there, Mr. Davis, he's guilty. I'm telling you. That's my opinion. But it's up to you to decide the final analysis." ⁸ (T.279)

Of course, "a prosecutor may not use his personal beliefs and the prestige attendant to his office to bolster his argument or the witnesses or evidence which he deems most damaging to a defendant." *Caston v. State*, 823 So.2d 473, 495 (Miss.2002), citing *Young*, 470 U.S. at 5. However, he is "entitled to argue his case drawing all rational inferences which come from the evidence in the courtroom." *Id.*, at 495-96.

The remark at issue must be analyzed in its context. It was made on the heels of an exposition of the evidence presented and deductions and inferences therefrom. "Such

⁷Although no further discussion should be required, the state submits for the sake of argument that the assistant district attorney was attempting to refute defense counsel's suggestion that the defendant's alleged impotence rendered him incapable of committing this offense. (T.272)

⁸This particular issue has been held to be procedurally barred by the failure to interpose a contemporaneous objection. *Rubenstein*, 941 So.2d at 779. Moreover, in *United States v. Young*, 470 U.S. 1, 20 (1985), "the United States Supreme Court stated that bolstering statements made by the prosecution do not amount to plain error as to require reversal." *Id.*

deductions are to be distinguished from personal opinions which are not drawn from the evidence at trial." *Caston*, 823 So.2d at 496. The state contends the comment in question, considered in this context, was not a bare expression of unsupported personal belief. It certainly was not "so egregious as to rise to the level of a fundamental denial of a constitutionally-mandated fair trial." *Bell v. State*, 725 So.2d 836, 851 (Miss.1998).

Davis asserts additionally that the prosecutor "misstated evidence to the jury" when he argued that defense counsel agreed with the state's expert witnesses. (Brief for Appellant 12) The state counters this was a fair response to the defense counsel's closing argument, during which he repeatedly attempted to utilize the testimony of the state's expert witnesses for the defendant's benefit. (T.272-75) Moreover, with respect to these witnesses, defense counsel explicitly said, "I agree with them." (T.275)

Finally, Davis takes issue with the conclusion of the prosecutor's argument: "When the guilty go free the innocent are punished. I did all I could. It's up to you now." (T.283) He asserts that this was a "send a message" argument, which has been prohibited. The state responds that even if the comments in question could be construed as such improper argument, the defendants would not be heard to challenge them for the first time on appeal. Randolph v. State, __ So.2d __ (Miss. App.) (Decided August 7, 2007) (2007 WL 2246055); Langston v. State, 791 So.2d 273, 280 (Miss. App. 2001) (declining to address merits of unpreserved challenge to alleged "send a message" argument); Hayes v. State, 723 So.2d 1182, 1188 (Miss. App. 1998).

⁹As shown by the foregoing excerpt, the prosecutor went on to tell the jurors that the determination of the factual issues ultimately was their prerogative.

In the alternative, the state submits the prosecutor did not tell the jurors that they should "send a message" by their verdict, or that the verdict would be reflective of the conscience of the community; rather, they essentially asked the jury to do justice for the victim. This was not improper. *Crawford v. State*, 515 So.2d 936, 939 (Miss.1987). See also *Carter v. State*, 956 So.2d 951, 960 (Miss. App. 2006), and *Lee v. State*, 858 So.2d 124, 128-29 (Miss.2003).

Even if this argument could be characterized as an exhortation to "send a message," by no stretch of the imagination was it "so egregious as to prevent the jurors from reaching an appropriate verdict." *Gardner v. State*, 792 So.2d 1000, 1006 (Miss. App. 2001). This would not be one of those "few" cases in which such an argument has been held to require reversal. *Id.*, citing *Forbes v. State*, 771 So.2d 942, 951 (Miss. App. 2000).

¹⁰On this basis, *Alexander v. State*, 736 So.2d 1058, 1064 (Miss. App. 1999), is distinguishable. In that case, the prosecutor went much farther than stating, "There is nothing further we can do." He went on to tell the jurors to "send a message" and to imply that they were responsible for keeping illegal drugs out of the county. This argument embodies not only the prohibited "send a message" motif but a "link in the chain" argument and a "community conscience" exhortation. *Evans v. State*, 725 So.2d 613, 675 (Miss.1997). Nothing of the sort occurred here.

¹¹By no stretch of the imagination was this argument "so egregious as to prevent the jurors from reaching an appropriate verdict." *Gardner v. State*, ___ So.2d ___ (Miss. App. 1999-KA-1759, decided February 20, 2001).

¹²The most rational conclusion is that Davis was convicted because the state presented compelling, credible and uncontradicted evidence of his guilt.

In conclusion, the state points at that the court instructed the jury as follows, in pertinent part:

Arguments, statements and remarks of counsel are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law, but they are not evidence. If any arguments, statements or remarks have no basis in the evidence then you should disregard the argument, statement or remark.

(C.P.17)

This Court has held that reversal is not required when such instruction is given. E.g., Burns v. State, 729 So.2d 203, 229 (Miss.1998). Accord, Ormond v. State, 599 So.2d 951, 961 (Miss.1998).

The state reiterates that Davis's challenges to the state's closing argument are procedurally barred. In the alternative, the state contends they are substantively without merit as well.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully submits the propositions made by Davis have no merit.

Accordingly, the judgment entered below should be affirmed.